SUPPORT FOR NEW PARENTS AND BABIES IN NEW SOUTH WALES

Organisation: Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA)

Name: Dr Ingrid Johnston

Position: Senior Policy Officer

Date Received: 17 November 2017



AUSTRALIA

Public Health Association of Australia submission on support for new parents and babies in New South Wales

Contact for recipient: NSW Legislative Committee on Community Services E: <u>communityservices@parliament.nsw.gov.au</u> T: (02) 9230 3054

Contact for PHAA: Michael Moore – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373

17 November 2017

Contents

Introduction
The Public Health Association of Australia3
Vision for a healthy population
Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia3
Preamble
PHAA Response to the Inquiry Terms of Reference4
1. The adequacy of current services and structures for new parents, especially those who need extra support, to provide a safe and nurturing environment for their babies
2. Changes to current services and structures that could improve physical health, mental health and child protection outcomes for babies
3. Specific areas of disadvantage or challenge in relation to health outcomes for babies
4. Models of support provided in other jurisdictions to support new parents and promote the health of babies
5. Opportunities for new and emerging technology to enhance support for new parents and babies 7
Conclusion7
References

Introduction

The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia. The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of the Board, the National Office, the State and Territory Branches, the Special Interest Groups and members.

The efforts of the PHAA are enhanced by our vision for a healthy Australia and by engaging with likeminded stakeholders in order to build coalitions of interest that influence public opinion, the media, political parties and governments.

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

All members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.

Vision for a healthy population

A healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a wellfunctioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.

Preamble

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to New South Wales Legislative Committee on Community Services inquiry into support for new parents and babies in New South Wales. The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. The Australian Government, in collaboration with the States/Territories, should outline a comprehensive national cross-government framework on promoting a healthy ecosystem and reducing social and health inequities. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

PHAA Response to the Inquiry Terms of Reference

1. The adequacy of current services and structures for new parents, especially those who need extra support, to provide a safe and nurturing environment for their babies.

All new parents will require services and support, with the types and level of support varying according to need and circumstance. Becoming a parent affects so many areas of one's life that the range of support and services needs to be broad for the whole community. However, wide variation in availability and provision of services has been reported in NSW.¹

The prioritisation of vulnerable children has been found to be ad hoc and inconsistent.² There are many population groups who are adversely affected by this inconsistency and lack of service provision:

- Gaps have been identified in home visitation to refugee mothers who do not speak English
- Support services for incarcerated parents to maintain a connection with their infants or young children are limited. Support for parents post release ³⁻⁵ is often difficult with multiple significant needs including housing, employment and access to their children
- Mothers who are experiencing domestic violence
- Parents who are seeking support with stopping substance misuse
- Less than 50% of women at risk of poor perinatal mental health receive adequate care due to poor uptake of specialist services for mental health problems in postnatal women ⁶
- Fathers who are at risk of postnatal depression often do not receive mental health screening and care due to a lack of contact with health services in the postnatal period ⁷
- Disadvantaged Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families

There are only 10 early parenting services located across Australia that provide specialist, multidisciplinary interventions to support parents experiencing complex parenting difficulties. These services are located in major cities with only minimal services provided for rural families. However, some early parenting services are developing innovative models to take services to rural areas.

Insecure funding arrangements and/or short-term grants impose significant difficulties for non-profit organisations to provide continuity of services and workforce planning. For example, few Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHOs) receive secure funding through the Aboriginal Maternal and Infant Health Strategy, which restricts access to culturally appropriate services for new parents. This is especially important since Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women face disparities in their maternal health outcomes compared with non-Aboriginal women, and a clear need for cultural safety training within mainstream services has been identified.^{8, 9}

Inconsistent approaches to transfer of information about mothers and newborns from maternity services to child and family health nursing ¹ services or GPs ¹⁰ has been reported. Electronic medical records have been identified as the key means of communication, however, selective information sharing or poor information transfer between midwives and child and family health nurses (CFHNs) has been identified that may reduce quality of care. ¹ Collaboration between midwives and CFHNs is constrained by service disconnection.¹¹

Issues with communication and referral have been noted between midwifery, early childhood nursing and general practice, affecting continuity of care and highlighting the lack of inter-professional relationships between maternity and CFH nurses, GPs or practice nurses. ¹²

It is difficult to locate services on the internet with broken links on the Families NSW child health services site and limited information for parents. This is a smaller and more manageable issue which can and should be resolved immediately.

2. Changes to current services and structures that could improve physical health, mental health and child protection outcomes for babies.

Enquiry by a health professional about women's past or current mental health is associated with helpseeking throughout the perinatal period. ¹³ Improving the opportunities for such enquiry by enhancing the relationships between the local midwifery program, CFHN home visits and GP is therefore important. ¹⁴ This will improve referral and service uptake of specialist perinatal and infant mental health services which have been favourably received by women. For this to be successful, there is a need for further investment including for consistent clinician support across a minimum of a 12 month period ^{15, 16} with a preference for programs to continue until the child's second birthday. ¹⁷ Innovations identified in research include improved information sharing, the efficient use of funding and resources, development of new roles to improve co-ordination of care, the co-location of services and working together.¹⁸

No matter how appropriate the models of service that are chosen to work with families, having an adequately educated, culturally appropriate and skilled workforce is of paramount importance and a continuing issue. Many of the parents and children who have the most complex histories and vulnerabilities are often provided home visiting services with the least skilled workers or volunteers. This sets up inequities within the system that need to be resolved. Nurses have been clearly identified as highly suited to providing home visiting services to parents and their infants and young children. However, these nurses need to have as a minimum a child and family health nursing qualification to enable a strong focus on comprehensive assessment and intervention design, growth and development, infant nutrition, child protection, child health and perinatal and infant mental health. They also need to be able to work collaboratively with parents building on their existing knowledge, skills and cultural preferences.

Depending on the complexity of the family's situation, whoever is the lead worker, they need to be able to work within an interdisciplinary team to provide the best support and service to the family. It is unrealistic to think that one worker can be skilled in all aspects of care.

While we have seen an improvement in health outcomes and child infant mortality rates in recent years, for Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander children there is still a disparity.¹⁹ The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander child mortality rate is 1.9 times that of other children in Australia, and they are 7 times more likely to be taken into care.²⁰ ACCHOs offer culturally appropriate, holistic health care to reduce the number of children in out of home care. With appropriate funding and resourcing, they are best placed to offer services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.²¹ Supporting ACCHOs to work intensively with families within the first 1000 days of life will help to ensure healthy, happy children and reduce child protection notifications and removal from families.^{22, 23}

Developing rapport with new parents and improving communication between health professionals is required. A return to the CFH nurses visiting new mothers in maternity services might assist with connecting families and service providers ²⁴ GPs also need to receive both feedback about families they have referred, and maternity discharge summaries. ¹⁰ All providers should be involved in group meetings to support families with psychosocial needs. These could also be facilitated by telehealth (telephone or videoconference) as well as face to face. Midwifery and CFHN collaboration has been found to be facilitated through liaison staff roles; co-location and joint working. ²⁵

PHAA submission on support for new parents and babies in New South Wales

3. Specific areas of disadvantage or challenge in relation to health outcomes for babies.

There are several groupings of infants who need to be provided with significant support due to their vulnerable state:

- Infants in temporary out-of-home care as they are likely to have disrupted relationships with their main carer
- Infants of incarcerated parents
- infants of parents who have a substance use disorder
- infants in kinship care that perpetuates the intergenerational transfer of dysfunctional parenting and abuse
- Infants of parents with mental health issues including post-natal depression
- Infants in families with socioeconomic disadvantage such as unstable housing or unemployment

Other infants and parents that can be forgotten by the system are infants who are premature, infants with a disability or who have chronic illnesses requiring significant clinical intervention. The focus is usually on stabilising their health condition rather than on providing parenting interventions which may be beneficial in supporting parents, and in turn, assisting health outcomes for the infants.

4. Models of support provided in other jurisdictions to support new parents and promote the health of babies.

New models of shared care between practice nurses and family physicians as shown to be effective in Canada. ²⁶ However, these nurses need to have appropriate child and family health knowledge and skills as stated in Question 2.

For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander parents, family focused, community embedded programs that address social determinants of health such as the provision of housing with appropriate social, behavioural and community-wide environmental interventions are the most effective ²⁷.

NSW Health may benefit from an investigation into other models of care to support refugee parents such as the Bridging the Gap Partnership in Melbourne. This is a model that aims to implement and evaluate codesigned quality improvement strategies and early childhood services to support families of refugee background.²⁸

Corrective Services NSW has established parenting programs for incarcerated mothers (Mothering at a Distance) and incarcerated fathers (Dads and Family (Babiin Miyagang)).²⁹ Both these programs have been well received by the participants and correctional staff.³⁰ The approach used in these programs could be extended to the wider community.

Developing service models that encourage capacity building of the parents as well as the health worker/professional are essential. For example, Kathleen York House staff have been working with Tresillian Family Care Service to provide a parenting service for the admitted mothers. This has resulted in capacity building for both the KYH staff (in parenting) and Tresillian staff (in substance misuse management). ³¹

5. Opportunities for new and emerging technology to enhance support for new parents and babies.

Mhealth interventions have been found to be promising in increasing the uptake of antenatal, postnatal care and child immunisations.³² However, the use of technology must be based upon high level evidence that is often lacking. The Text4baby program that promotes healthy pregnancies and babies by the use of text messages in the United States that might provide a useful model to for NSW as it has been rigorously evaluated.³³ Mobile apps for fathers may be useful to support them with mental health issues in the postnatal period ³⁴ and to assist their partners in breastfeeding.³⁵ The SMS4dads project being conducted through The Family Action Centre at the University of Newcastle provides new fathers with information and connections to online services from pregnancy to 12 months after birth, through their mobile phones. A feasibility study showed positive results and the project has progressed to an efficacy study currently underway.³⁶

An essential requirement other than the appropriate staff to provide these services is the provision of reliable internet services. Without this internet reliability these services will fail and cause significant frustration for parents and health workers.

Conclusion

PHAA supports the broad directions of the review of support services for new parents and babies in NSW. We are particularly keen that the following points are highlighted:

- services must be adequately and securely funded to ensure continual service provision
- services must be available, especially to vulnerable populations, across the whole of NSW
- collaboration, coordination and information sharing among an interdisciplinary team are important to ensure needs are met
- Programs and services must be culturally appropriate, with ACCHOs best positioned to provide services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission and the opportunity to contribute to improved support to new parents and babies in NSW.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Michael Moore

Michael Moore BA, Dip Ed, MPH Chief Executive Officer Public Health Association of Australia

17 November 2017

Sinon Willcox

Simon Willcox PHAA Branch President New South Wales

References

1. Schmied V, Homer C, Fowler C, Psaila K, Barclay L, Wilson I, et al. Implementing a national approach to universal child and family health services in Australia: professionals' views of the challenges and opportunities. Health & social care in the community. 2015;23(2):159-70.

2. Zwi K, Joshua P, Moran P, White L. Prioritizing vulnerable children: strategies to address inequity. Child: care, health and development. 2015;41(6):827-35.

3. Fowler C, Rossiter C, Dawson A, Jackson D, Power T. Becoming a "Better" Father: Supporting the Needs of Incarcerated Fathers. The Prison Journal. 2017:0032885517734495.

4. Rossiter C, Power T, Fowler C, Jackson D, Roche M, Dawson A. "Learning to become a better man": Insights from a fathering programme for incarcerated Indigenous men. Australian Journal of Social Issues. 2017;52(1):13-31.

 Rossiter C, Power T, Fowler C, Jackson D, Hyslop D, Dawson A. Mothering at a Distance: what incarcerated mothers value about a parenting programme. Contemporary nurse. 2015;50(2-3):238-55.
Schmied V, Langdon R, Matthey S, Kemp L, Austin M-P, Johnson M. Antenatal psychosocial risk status and Australian women's use of primary care and specialist mental health services in the year after birth: a prospective study. BMC Women's Health. 2016;16(1):69.

7. Schmied V, Donovan J, Kruske S, Kemp L, Homer C, Fowler C. Commonalities and challenges: a review of Australian state and territory maternity and child health policies. Contemporary Nurse. 2011;40(1):106-17.

8. Brown AE, Middleton PF, Fereday JA, Pincombe JI. Cultural safety and midwifery care for Aboriginal women - A phenomenological study. Women Birth. 2016;29(2):196-202.

9. Congress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nurses and Midwives. Embedding Cultural Safety across Australian Nursing and Midwifery <u>http://catsinam.org.au/static/uploads/files/embedding-cultural-safety-accross-australian-nursing-and-midwifery-may-2017-wfca.pdf2017</u> [cited 2017 13 November].

10. Brodribb WE, Mitchell BL, Van Driel ML. Continuity of care in the post partum period: general practitioner experiences with communication. Australian Health Review. 2016;40(5):484-9.

11. Psaila K, Schmied V, Fowler C, Kruske S. Interprofessional collaboration at transition of care: perspectives of child and family health nurses and midwives. Journal of clinical nursing. 2015;24(1-2):160-72.

12. Psaila K, Schmied V, Fowler C, Kruske S. Discontinuities between maternity and child and family health services: health professional's perceptions. BMC health services research. 2014;14(1):4.

13. Reilly N, Harris S, Loxton D, Chojenta C, Forder P, Austin M-P. The impact of routine assessment of past or current mental health on help-seeking in the perinatal period. Women and Birth. 2014;27(4):e20-e7.

14. Myors KA, Cleary M, Johnson M, Schmied V. A mixed methods study of collaboration between perinatal and infant mental health clinicians and other service providers: Do they sit in silos? BMC Health Services Research. 2015;15(1):316.

15. Myors KA, Schmied V, Johnson M, Cleary M. 'My special time': Australian women's experiences of accessing a specialist perinatal and infant mental health service. Health & social care in the community. 2014;22(3):268-77.

16. Coates D, Davis E, Campbell L. The experiences of women who have accessed a perinatal and infant mental health service: a qualitative investigation. Advances in Mental Health. 2017;15(1):88-100.

17. Olds D, Hill P, Robinson J, Song MN, Little C. Update on home visiting for pregnant women and parents of young children. Current Problems in Pediatrics. 2000;30(4):109-41.

18. Psaila K, Fowler C, Kruske S, Schmied V. A qualitative study of innovations implemented to improve transition of care from maternity to child and family health (CFH) services in Australia. Women and Birth. 2014;27(4):e51-e60.

19. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework 2017 Report. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2017.

20. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Child protection Australia 2015-16. Child Welfare series no. 66. Cat. no. CWS 60. Canberra: AIHW; 2017.

PHAA submission on support for new parents and babies in New South Wales

21. Corcoran PM, Catling C, Homer CS. Models of midwifery care for Indigenous women and babies: A meta-synthesis. Women Birth. 2017;30(1):77-86.

22. Australia FaRS, editor Measuring success in the family and relationship sector: For the wellbeing of children, families and communities. FRSA 2016 Conference e-Journal Edition 1; 2016; Canberra.

23. Tilbury C. Moving to Prevention research report: Intensive family support services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children. Brisbane: School of Human Services and Social Work, Griffith University and SNAICC; 2015.

24. Briggs C. Nursing practice in community child health: developing the nurse–client relationship. Contemporary Nurse. 2007;23(2):303-11.

25. Aquino MRJV, Olander EK, Needle JJ, Bryar RM. Midwives' and health visitors' collaborative relationships: A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2016;62(Supplement C):193-206.

26. Warmels G, Johnston S, Turley J. Improving team-based care for children: shared well child care involving family practice nurses. Primary Health Care Research & Development. 2017:1-8.

27. Bowes J, Grace R. Review of early childhood parenting, education and health intervention programs for Indigenous children and families in Australia. 2014.

28. Yelland J, Riggs E, Szwarc J, Casey S, Dawson W, Vanpraag D, et al. Bridging the Gap: using an interrupted time series design to evaluate systems reform addressing refugee maternal and child health inequalities. Implementation Science. 2015;10(1):62.

29. NSW Department of Corrective Services. Programs for offenders

www.correctiveservices.justice.nsw.gov.au/Pages/CorrectiveServices/programs/offender-services-and-programs.aspx2017 [cited 2017 14 November].

30. Perry V, Fowler C, Heggie K. Evaluation of the Mothering at a Distance Program. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2009.

31. Fowler C, Rossiter C, Sherwood J, Day C. New understandings of mothering: Mothers in an abstinence-based drug treatment program. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction. 2015;13(2):173-84.

32. Watterson JL, Walsh J, Madeka I. Using mHealth to improve usage of antenatal care, postnatal care, and immunization: A systematic review of the literature. BioMed research international. 2015;2015.

text4baby. Data and evaluation https://text4baby.org/about/data-and-evaluation2017 [cited 2017
14 November].

34. Shorey S, Dennis CL, Bridge S, Chong YS, Holroyd E, He HG. First-time fathers' postnatal experiences and support needs: A descriptive qualitative study. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2017.

35. White BK, Martin A, White JA, Burns SK, Maycock BR, Giglia RC, et al. Theory-based design and development of a socially connected, gamified mobile app for men about breastfeeding (Milk Man). JMIR mHealth and uHealth. 2016;4(2).

36. SMS4dads. About the Project: SMS4dads <u>https://www.sms4dads.com/About/Project</u> [cited 2017 16 November].